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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Joint arrangements (continued)

In assessing the classification of interests in joint arrangements, the Group considers:

•	 The structure of the joint arrangement;

•	 The legal form of joint arrangements structured through a separate vehicle;

•	 The contractual terms of the joint arrangement agreement; and

•	 Any other facts and circumstances (including any other contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures using the equity method.

Any premium paid for an investment in a joint venture above the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying amount of the investment in joint 

venture. Where there is objective evidence that the investment in a joint venture has been impaired the carrying amount of 

the investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial assets.

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale when:

•	 they are available for immediate sale;

•	 management is committed to a plan to sell;

•	 it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn;

•	 an active programme to locate a buyer has been initiated;

•	 the asset or disposal group is being marketed at a reasonable price in relation to its fair value; and

•	 a sale is expected to complete within 12 months from the date of classification.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of:

•	 their carrying amount immediately prior to being classified as held for sale in accordance with the Group’s 

accounting policy; and

•	 fair value less costs to sell.

Following their classification as held for sale, non-current assets (including those in a disposal group) are not depreciated.

The results of operations disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss up to the date of disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The cost 

of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the 

items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 

when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item 

can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance 

are recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Buildings are depreciated over the shorter of the term of the lease or fifty years using the straight-line method.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of the lease or at 10% per annum using 

the straight-line method.

Depreciation is charged to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives, using the 

reducing balance method, at the following rates per annum:

Equipment, furniture and fixtures	 20% – 30%

Plant and machinery	 6.67% – 20%

Motor vehicles	 20% – 30%

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s estimated 

recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds 

and its carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale 

in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. 

Investment property is measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change therein 

recognised in profit or loss.

Prepaid lease payments for land

Prepaid lease payments for land are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 

impairment losses. The costs of prepaid lease payments for land are amortised on a straight-line basis over the respective 

terms of the land use rights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Mining right

Mining right is stated at cost less subsequent accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation 

of mining right is calculated to write off the cost less accumulated impairment losses and reserves of the mines on the 

unit-of-production method.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in 

a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be 

either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life on the 

straight-line basis and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at 

each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually either individually or at the CGU 

level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed 

annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life 

assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Impairment of assets excluding goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is 

any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer 

exists or may have reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 

determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 

individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable 

and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise 

they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows 

have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 

asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised 

estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined had no impairment loss in profit or loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior 

years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost and subsequently stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, 

including an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead expenses incurred in bringing the inventories to their 

present location and condition, is assigned to inventories by the method most appropriate to the particular class of 

inventories, with the majority being valued on a first-in-first-out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling 

price for inventories in the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make 

the sale.

Financial instruments (accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018)

(i)	 Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) is initially measured at fair 

value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade 

receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the 

Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial 

assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the 

market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash 

flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on the classification as follows:

Debt instruments

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 

solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are 

subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses 

and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect to 

present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made 

on an investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments at FVOCI are measured at fair value. Dividend income 

are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend income clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the 

investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified 

to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and 

interest income are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018) (continued)

(ii)	 Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on debtors, financial assets measured at amortised cost and 

equity investments measured at FVTPL. The ECLs are measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12-month 

ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date: 

and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 

instrument. The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which 

the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference between 

all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that 

the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original effective 

interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for debtors using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has 

calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s 

historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 

environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and 

when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 

without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information analysis, based on the 

Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past 

due. The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit 

obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or 

(2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past due, depending on credit worth of customers.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying 

amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest income is 

calculated based on the gross carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018) (continued)

(iii)	 Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial 

liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured 

at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including creditors, other advances and accrued charges and borrowings are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The related interest expense is 

recognised in profit or loss. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as 

well as through the amortisation process.

(iv)	 Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 

and of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 

that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial asset or 

liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(v)	 Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(vi)	 Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to the 

financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for 

derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in 

the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (accounting policies applied until 30 June 2018)

(i)	 Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the asset was 
acquired. Financial assets at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value and all other financial assets are initially 
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. 
Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. A 
regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require delivery 
of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.

Financial assets at FVTPL

These assets include financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are 
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables

The Group’s non-derivative financial assets mainly include loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. At the end 
of each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses.

(ii)	 Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period, whether there is any objective evidence that financial asset 
is impaired. Financial asset is impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include:

–	 significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

–	 a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

–	 granting concession to a debtor because of debtor’s financial difficulty; and

–	 it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account. When any part of financial asset is determined as uncollectible, it is written off against 
the allowance account for the relevant financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (accounting policies applied until 30 June 2018) (continued)

(iii)	 Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial 

liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured 

at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading. Financial liabilities are classified as held 

for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives are also classified as held for 

trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 

recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 

method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 

amortisation process.

Promissory notes

Promissory notes are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured 

at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(iv)	 Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset/liability and of 

allocating interest income/expense respectively over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts/payments through the expected life of the financial asset/liability 

respectively, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(v)	 Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (accounting policies applied until 30 June 2018) (continued)

(vi)	 Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to the 

financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for 

derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled 

or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as 

a result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity instruments issued are the consideration paid and are 

recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If 

the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to 

reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 

liability or part thereof extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits with banks, and other short-term, highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and 

are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral 

part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of 

the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Income taxes

Income taxes comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowable 

for income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of 

reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 

financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for goodwill and recognised 

assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 

temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 

available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates 

appropriate to the expected manner in which the carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled and that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income taxes (continued)

An exception to the general requirement on determining the appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax amount 

is when an investment property is carried at fair value under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless the presumption is 

rebutted, the deferred tax amounts on these investment properties are measured using the tax rates that would apply on 

sale of these investment properties at their carrying amounts at the reporting date. The presumption is rebutted when the 

investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all the 

economic benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on interests in subsidiaries, associates and 

joint arrangements, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 

that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income 

in which case the taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive income or when they relate to items recognised 

directly in equity in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 

lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the 

leased asset and recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

Assets held under finance leases are capitalised at their fair values at the inception of the leases or, if lower, at the present 

value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor, net of interest charges, is included in the 

consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Finance costs, which represent the difference 

between the total leasing commitments and the fair value of the assets acquired, are recognised in profit or loss over 

the period of the relevant leases so as to produce a constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the 

obligations for each accounting period.

Operating lease payments are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 

where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 

are consumed.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. 

The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as an integrated part of the total rental expenses, over the term of the 

lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other than the currency of the primary economic environment 

in which they operate (the “functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign 

currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary 

items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date 

when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 

currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are 

recognised as profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-

monetary items carried at fair value are included as profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the 

translation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, in 

which case, the exchange differences are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 

operations are expressed in HK$ using exchange rates prevailing at the end of reporting period. Income and expense 

items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during 

the period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, 

are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in exchange reserve within equity. Such exchange 

differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation 

arising as a result of a past event, which will probably result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reasonably 

estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, 

the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. 

Possible obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 

future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees of the Company

The fair value of share options has been recognised in profit or loss as share-based payments.

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is 

expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be 

transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the 

expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Revenue recognition (accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the customers 

at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 

services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales 

taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may 

be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s 

performance:

•	 provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer;

•	 creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

•	 does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment 

for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by reference 

to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point 

in time when the customer obtains control of the goods or service.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the 

transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the 

amounts receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction 

between the Group and the customer at contract inception. Where the contract contains a financing component which 

provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest expense 

accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For contracts where the period between the payment 

and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects 

of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (accounting policies applied from 1 July 2018) (continued)

Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point of time when the control of goods have been transferred to the 

buyer. There is generally only one performance obligation. Invoices are usually payable within 30 to 60 days. New 

customers are normally required to pay in advance. The advances received is recognised as contract liabilities.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has 

received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly 

discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when 

appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Revenue recognition (accounting policies applied until 30 June 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for goods sold and services provided in 

the normal course of business, net of returns, discounts and other similar allowances and excludes value-added tax or 

other sales related taxes.

(i)	 Sales of goods are recognised on transfer of risk and rewards of ownership which is at the time of delivery and title 

has passed to customer.

(ii)	 Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time-apportioned basis by reference to the principal 

outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future 

cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

(iii)	 Rental income from operating leases is recognised in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the 

lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 

that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those 

assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are 

recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled 

wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related 

service. Short-term employee benefits are recognised in the year when the employees render the related service.

Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when the services are 

rendered by the employees.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits 

and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

(a)	 A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b)	 An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(i)	 The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and 

fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)	 One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a 

group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)	 Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)	 One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)	 The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity related 

to the Group.

(vi)	 The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii)	 A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of key management 

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)	 The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel service to the 

Group’s or the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced 

by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)	 that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii)	 children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii)	 dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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4.	 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 

seldom equal to the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions adopted that have a significant risk of causing 

a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 

completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based on the current market condition and the historical experience 

of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of competitors’ actions in 

response to severe industry cycles. Management reassesses the estimations at the end of each reporting period.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis or reducing balance method over their estimated useful 

lives, after taking into account the estimated residual values, if any. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives and the 

estimated residual values, if any, of the assets regularly in order to determine the amount of depreciation expense to be 

recorded during any reporting period. The useful lives and residual values are based on the Group’s historical experience 

with similar assets and taking into account anticipated technological changes. The depreciation expense for future periods 

is adjusted if there are significant changes from previous estimates.

Reserve estimates and amortisation of mining right

Reserves are estimates of the amount of products that can be economically and legally extracted from the Group’s 

properties. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical 

and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates, production costs, transport 

costs, commodity demand and commodity prices. Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size, 

shape and depth of ore bodies or fields to be determined by analysing geological data such as drilling samples. This 

process and the determination of appropriate amortisation method of mining right may require complex and difficult 

geological judgments and calculations to interpret the data as well as consideration of the production plan.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions 

in accordance with prevailing tax regulations and makes tax provision accordingly. However, judgement is required in 

determining the Group’s provision for income taxes as there are many transactions and calculations of which the ultimate 

tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 

is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 

provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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4.	 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

In determining whether an item of property, plant and equipment is impaired or the event previously causing the 

impairment no longer exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing: 

(1) whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset value or such event affecting the asset value has not been 

in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset or a CGU can be supported by net present value of future cash 

flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset or CGU, or derecognition; and (3) the appropriate 

key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether these cash flow projections are 

discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management to determine the level of 

impairment, including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially 

affect the net present value used in the impairment test.

Provision on ECL for debtors, other loans and receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the debtors, other loans and receivables. The expected loss rates 

are based on days past due for groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is 

based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable 

and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are 

reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group’s debtors, other 

loans and receivables are disclosed in Note 5.

Impairment of mining right

The Group’s mining right is assessed annually to determine for any indication of impairment. Where an indicator of 

impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made, which is the higher of the fair value less costs 

of disposal and value in use. The assessment requires the use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term selling 

prices, discount rates, future capital requirements and operating performance. Fair value is determined as the amount that 

would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. 

Fair value for mineral assets is generally determined as the present value of estimate future cash flows arising from the 

continued use of the asset, which includes estimates such as the cost of future expansion plans and eventual disposal, 

using assumptions that an independent market participant may take into account. Cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 

risks specific to the asset.

Estimated recoverable amount of CGUs with goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amounts of the CGUs to which the 

goodwill has been allocated. The recoverable amount calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows 

expected to arise from the CGU and an appropriate discount.

Had the parameters for the projected future cash flows of the CGUs of the goodwill and the discount rates been different, 

the estimated recoverable amount of goodwill would have been significantly different and further impairment may arise.
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5.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments in the normal course of the Group’s business are 

foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk copper price risk and equity price risk. 

These risks are managed according to the Group’s financial management policies and practices described below. 

Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely 

and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“U.S. Dollars”) and 

Renminbi (“RMB”), which are the functional currencies of respective group companies. The Group does not expect 

any significant exposure to foreign currency risks.

Credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has policies in place for determination of credit limits, credit approvals 

and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, 

the directors of the Company consider that the credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and 

customers.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash, including bank balances held on behalf of brokerage clients, 

are mainly deposited with registered banks in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group has policies to limit its credit 

exposure to any financial institution. The directors consider the credit risk on bills receivables is low since the issuers 

or the banks which guarantee payments of bills receivables are of high credit rating. Accordingly, the ECLs for 

pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash and bills receivables were expected to be minimal.

The carrying amounts of debtors, other loans and receivables and deposits, financial assets at FVTPL, pledged 

bank deposits, bank balances and cash included in the consolidated statement of financial position represent the 

Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets which carry significant exposure to credit 

risk.
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5.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)	 Impairment of trade debtors

The Group measures loss allowances for trade debtors at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is 

calculated using a provision matrix based on days past due for groupings of customer segments that have 

similar loss patterns.

The following tables provide information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for the trade 

debtors as at 30 June 2019:

Expected

 loss rate

Gross

 carrying

 amount

Loss

 allowance

(%) RMB’000 RMB’000   

Neither past due nor impaired 0.05% 34,260 17

0–30 days past due 0.11% 6,739 8

31–90 days past due 0.35% 4,227 15

Over 90 days past due 88.08% 1,972 1,737  

47,198 1,777  

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past three years. These rates are adjusted 

to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been 

collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the 

receivables.
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5.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(ii)	 Impairment of other loans and receivables and deposits

The Group measures loss allowances for other loans and receivables and deposits using the general 

approach under HKFRS 9. Impairment of these receivables and deposits was provided based on the “three-

stage” model by referring to the changes in credit quality since initial recognition.

These receivables and deposits that are not credit-impaired on initial recognition are classified in “Stage 1” 

and have their credit risk continuously monitored by the Group. The ECL is measured on a 12-month basis.

–	 If a significant increase in credit risk (as defined in accounting policy at Note 3) since initial recognition 

is identified, the financial asset is moved to “Stage 2” but it not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. The 

ECL is measured on lifetime basis.

–	 If the financial asset is credit-impaired (as defined in accounting policy at Note 3), the financial asset is 

then moved to “Stage 3”. The ECL is measured on lifetime basis.

–	 At Stages 1 and 2, interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount (without deducting 

the loss allowance). If a financial asset subsequently becomes credit-impaired (Stage 3), the Group 

is required to calculate the interest income by applying the effective interest method in subsequent 

reporting periods to the amortised cost of the financial asset (the gross carrying amount net of loss 

allowance) rather than the gross carrying amount.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for other 

receivables and deposits as at 30 June 2019:

Expected

 loss rate

ECLs

 Stage 1

ECLs

 Stage 2

Lifetime 

ECLs

 Stage 3

Gross

 carrying

 amount

Loss

 allowance

(%) HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Other loans and receivables 

and deposits 14.76 170,623 – 38,290 208,913 30,840      

Change in gross carrying amounts of other loans and receivables and deposits during the year did not result 

in significant change in the loss allowance.
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5.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 

in market interest rate. The Group’s interest rate risk relates primarily to the Group’s floating-rate borrowings (Note 

33).

Management closely monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure 

should the need arise. It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interest so as to minimise the 

interest rate risk.

At 30 June 2019, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other 

variables held constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s loss for the year and the accumulated losses by 

approximately HK$1,580,000 (2018: HK$1,261,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at 

the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for both derivative and 

non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis point increase or decrease represents 

management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period until the next annual 

reporting date. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the year ended 30 June 2018.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management, including the short 

term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval 

by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to 

ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial 

institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its financial liabilities as at the end of 

reporting period, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed 

using contractual rates, or if floating, based on rates current at the reporting date) and the earliest date the Group 

can be required to pay.



Solartech International Holdings Limited100

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

5.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Carrying

amount

Total

contractual

undiscounted

cash flow

Within 1 year

or on demand

More

than 1 year

but less than

2 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 30 June 2019

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Borrowings 158,090 170,377 128,265 42,112

Promissory notes 14,004 16,803 – 16,803

Creditors, other advances and  

accrued charges 61,399 61,399 61,399 –    

233,493 248,579 189,664 58,915    

Carrying

amount

Total

contractual

undiscounted

cash flow

Within 1 year

or on demand

More

than 1 year

but less than

2 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 30 June 2018

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Borrowings 126,141 130,492 130,492 –

Creditors, other advances and  

accrued charges 77,514 77,514 77,514 –    

203,655 208,006 208,006 –    

Derivative financial liabilities 67 67 67 –    
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5.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Copper price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk of copper rods, which are the major raw materials for the production process. To 

mitigate the copper price risk, the Group has entered into copper future contracts to hedge against the fluctuations 

of copper price. Details of the copper future contracts outstanding at the end of reporting period are set out in Note 

28.

At 30 June 2019, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 10% in copper future contract price, with all 

other variables held constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s loss for the year and the accumulated losses 

by approximately HK$Nil (2018: HK$642,000) in respect of the instruments outstanding throughout the year.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in copper future contract price had 

occurred at the end of reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to copper future contract price risk 

for both derivative and non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date. The 10% increase or decrease 

represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in copper future contract price over the 

period until the next annual reporting date. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the year ended 30 June 

2018.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from financial assets at FVTPL held for trading purpose.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy and sell trading securities are 

based on daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities compared to that of the index of the Stock 

Exchange and other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity needs.

The sensitivity analysis on equity price risk includes the Group’s financial instruments, which fair value or future cash 

flows will fluctuate because of changes in their corresponding or underlying asset’s equity price. At 30 June 2019, 

it was estimated that a general increase/decrease of 10% in equity price, with all other variables held constant, 

would decrease/increase the Group’s loss for the year and the accumulated losses by HK$2,669,000 (2018: 

HK$5,952,000).



Solartech International Holdings Limited102

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

5.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)	 Fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

•	 the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on 

active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

•	 the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally 

accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices or rates from observable 

current market transactions; and

•	 the fair value of financial guarantees issued is determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s length 

transaction for similar services, when such information is obtainable, or is otherwise estimated by reference to 

interest rate differentials according to professional valuation report, by comparing the actual rates charged by 

lenders when the guarantee is made available with the estimated rates that lenders would have charged, had 

the guarantees not been available, where reliable estimates of such information can be made.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised 

cost in the financial statements approximate their corresponding fair values.

HKFRS 7 requires disclosure for financial instruments that are measured at fair value by level of the following fair 

value measurement hierarchy:

Level 1 – Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted price included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, 

either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.
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5.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)	 Fair value (continued)

The following table presents the Group’s derivatives are measured at fair value at 30 June 2019 and 2018:

2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

Assets

Financial assets at FVTPL 26,699 – – 26,699

Copper future contracts 24 – – 24    

26,723 – – 26,723    

2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

Assets

Financial assets at FVTPL 59,522 – – 59,522    

Liabilities

Copper future contracts 67 – – 67    
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6.	 TURNOVER

Revenue derived from the Group’s principal activities comprises of the followings:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Revenue from contracts with customers:

Sales of goods 303,858 374,885

Others 4,034 8,341  

307,892 383,226  

Revenue from other sources:

Rental income 9,187 11,550

Others 55 604  

9,242 12,154  

317,134 395,380  
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7.	 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

(a)	 Reportable segments

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-

makers that are used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has four reportable segments. The segments are managed separately as each business offers different 

products and services and requires different business strategies. The Group’s reportable segments are as follows:

(i)	 manufacture and trading of cables and wires;

(ii)	 trading of copper rods;

(iii)	 trading of metallurgical grade bauxite; and

(iv)	 investment properties.

In prior years, the Group acquired its mining operation located in the State of Mongolia and became engaged in the 

mining business. However, no active operation took place since the date of acquisition and therefore the directors 

of the Company consider that the mining operation did not constitute a business segment as at 30 June 2018 and 

2019 and for the years then ended for the purpose of segment reporting.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about 

resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable 

segment profit/loss, which is measure of adjusted profit/loss before taxation. The adjusted profit/loss before taxation 

is measured consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before taxation except that interest income as well as head 

office and corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable and other unallocated head office and corporate assets 

as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and corporate 

liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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7.	 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

(a)	 Reportable segments (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Metallurgical
Cables Copper grade Investment

and wires rods bauxite properties Others Total Elimination Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000        

Revenue from external customers 176,494 127,419 – 9,187 4,034 317,134 – 317,134
Inter-segment revenue – 24,057 – – – 24,057 (24,057) –        

Reportable segment revenue 176,494 151,476 – 9,187 4,034 341,191 (24,057) 317,134
Reportable segment (loss)/profit (27,123) 4,915 (18) 36,158 (133,625) (119,693) – (119,693)        

Finance costs (7,652) (4,566) – – – (12,218) – (12,218)
Change in fair value of derivative 

financial instruments, net – (494) – – (638) (1,132) – (1,132)
Change in fair value and loss on 

disposal of financial assets at 
FVTPL, net – – – – (32,085) (32,085) – (32,085)

Change in fair value of investment 
properties, net 7,841 – – 33,777 – 41,618 – 41,618

Gain on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment 4,281 2,079 – – – 6,360 – 6,360

(Reversal of expected credit loss)/
expected credit loss for doubtful 
debts, net (8,625) 4,710 – – 190 (3,725) – (3,725)

Impairment loss on interests in 
associates – – – – (27,863) (27,863) – (27,863)

Share of results of associates – – – – (11,608) (11,608) – (11,608)
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment
– allocated (6,694) (4,118) – (1,031) (2,709) (14,552) – (14,552)
– unallocated (45) 

(14,597) 

Taxation (1,883) 4,767 – (9,804) 1,375 (5,545) – (5,545)        



107Annual Report 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

7.	 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

(a)	 Reportable segments (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

Metallurgical
Cables Copper grade Investment

and wires rods bauxite properties Others Total Elimination Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000        

Revenue from external customers 196,081 179,408 – 11,550 8,341 395,380 – 395,380
Inter-segment revenue – 35,916 – – – 35,916 (35,916) –        

Reportable segment revenue 196,081 215,324 – 11,550 8,341 431,296 (35,916) 395,380
Reportable segment (loss)/profit (6,704) (17,199) (10) 41,225 (63,295) (45,983) – (45,983)        

Finance costs (3,432) (4,324) – – – (7,756) – (7,756)
Change in fair value of derivative 

financial instruments, net – 659 – – 79 738 – 738
Change in fair value and gain on 

disposal of financial assets at 
FVTPL, net – – – – 7,387 7,387 – 7,387

Change in fair value of investment 
properties, net 5,940 – – 31,600 – 37,540 – 37,540

Change in fair value of profit 
guarantee – – – – (5,880) (5,880) – (5,880)

(Impairment loss)/reversal of 
impairment loss for doubtful  
debts, net (2,177) (363) – – 65 (2,475) – (2,475)

Impairment loss on property,  
plant and equipment – (7,122) – – – (7,122) – (7,122)

Impairment loss on interests in 
associates – – – – (42,519) (42,519) – (42,519)

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary – – – – (1,236) (1,236) – (1,236)
Share of results of associates – – – – 8,626 8,626 – 8,626
Depreciation of property,  

plant and equipment
– allocated (6,607) (5,911) – (1,717) (3,055) (17,290) – (17,290)
– unallocated (60) 

(17,350) 

Taxation (405) 2,736 45 (7,744) – (5,368) – (5,368)        
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7.	 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

(a)	 Reportable segments (continued)

As at 30 June 2019

Metallurgical

Cables Copper grade Investment

and wires rods bauxite properties Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Reportable segment assets 162,759 266,080 – 319,977 154,375 903,191

Additions to non-current assets 2,914 – – – 47,903 50,817

Reportable segment liabilities 127,064 64,171 – 11,696 2,618 205,549

As at 30 June 2018

Metallurgical

Cables Copper grade Investment

and wires rods bauxite properties Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Reportable segment assets 190,148 271,488 1,823 293,555 289,502 1,046,516

Additions to non-current assets 4,199 – – – 61,685 65,884

Reportable segment liabilities 99,687 75,758 – 7,720 7,956 191,121
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7.	 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

(b)	 Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

For the year ended 30 June

Loss before taxation

Reportable segment loss (119,693) (45,983)

Impairment loss on intangible assets (143,351) (23,952)

Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) on interests in  

joint venture (16,363) 2,734

Share of results of joint ventures (162) (209)

Unallocated finance costs (1,231) (2,540)

Share-based payment expenses (8,414) –

Unallocated corporate expenses (8,077) (10,357)  

Consolidated loss before taxation (297,291) (80,307)  

At 30 June

Assets

Reportable segment assets 903,191 1,046,516

Mining right 456,723 553,426

Interests in joint ventures 16,407 32,791

Unallocated bank balances and cash 2,085 8,740

Unallocated corporate assets 22,755 12,614  

Consolidated total assets 1,401,161 1,654,087  

Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities 205,549 191,121

Taxation 72 92

Promissory notes 14,004 –

Deferred tax liabilities 53,575 50,245

Unallocated corporate liabilities 13,940 12,601  

Consolidated total liabilities 287,140 254,059  
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7.	 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

(c)	 Geographical information

The Group’s operations are conducted in Hong Kong, the PRC, Americas, Europe and other Asian regions.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue from external customers and non-current assets 

other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets (“Specified non-current assets”).

Revenue from external customers Specified non-current assets

2019 2018 2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

The PRC 240,425 303,340 433,023 468,817

Americas 13,857 17,164 – –

Europe 32,598 34,237 – –

Hong Kong 18,146 27,415 114,388 139,933

Other Asian regions 12,108 13,224 476,811 594,643    

317,134 395,380 1,024,222 1,203,393    

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers. The non-current asset information 

above is based on the locations of the assets.

(d)	 Disaggregation of revenue by timing of revenue recognition

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Cables and

 wires

Copper

 rods

Investment

 properties Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Revenue from contracts with 

customers disaggregated by 

timing of revenue recognition

– At a point in time 176,439 127,419 – 4,034 307,892

– Transferred over time – – – – –     

176,439 127,419 – 4,034 307,892

Revenue from other sources 55 – 9,187 – 9,242     

176,494 127,419 9,187 4,034 317,134     
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7.	 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

(d)	 Disaggregation of revenue by timing of revenue recognition (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

Cables and

 wires

Copper

 rods

Investment

 properties Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Revenue from contracts with 

customers disaggregated by  

timing of revenue recognition

– At a point in time 195,477 179,408 – 8,341 383,226

– Transferred over time – – – – –     

195,477 179,408 – 8,341 383,226

Revenue from other sources 604 – 11,550 – 12,154     

196,081 179,408 11,550 8,341 395,380     

(e)	 Information about major customers

Revenue from external customers contributing 10% or more of the total revenue of the Group is as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Copper rods segment

Customer A 56,702 86,211

Customer B 39,158 53,159
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8.	 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss from operations is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the followings:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Auditor’s remuneration 2,150 2,040

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments for land 2,885 2,711

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14,597 17,350

Carrying amount of inventories sold 286,837 355,448

(Reversal of write-down)/write-down of inventories (1,324) 2,135  

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses (Note (i)) 285,513 357,583

Change in fair value of profit guarantee (Note (ii)) – 5,880

Lease payments under operating leases 12,264 12,601

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (6,360) 115

Exchange difference, net 35,066 (10,444)

Impairment loss on intangible assets 143,351 23,952

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment – 7,122

Impairment loss on interests in associates 27,863 42,519

Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) on interests in joint ventures 16,363 (2,734)

Expected credit loss/impairment loss for doubtful debts, net 3,725 2,475

Share of results of associates 11,608 (8,626)

Share of results of joint ventures 162 209

Share-based payment expenses (Note 37) 8,414 –

Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) (Note 9) 59,546 65,478  

Notes:

(i)	 Included in cost of inventories is HK$28,224,000 (2018: HK$30,024,000) relating to staff costs and depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment. The amounts are also included in the respective total amounts as separately disclosed above.

(ii)	 The profit guarantee arose from the Group’s acquisition of 49% equity interest in Idea International Holdings Limited (“IDEA”), which was 
subsequently measured at fair value after initial recognition. During the year ended 30 June 2018, the profit guarantee had been achieved 
and derecognised at a loss on change in fair value of HK$5,880,000 recognised in profit or loss.
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9.	 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Particulars of the remuneration of the directors and the five highest paid individuals for the year were as follows:

Name of director Fees

Salaries and

other benefits

Share-based

payment

Retirement

benefit scheme

contributions Total

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000          

 

Chau Lai Him – – 6,708 6,909 1,182 – – – 7,890 6,909

Zhou Jin Hua – – 1,405 1,414 1,182 – 2 17 2,589 1,431

Liu Dong Yang 305 290 248 260 1,182 – 94 103 1,829 653

Chau Chi Ho – – 1,040 983 709 – 18 18 1,767 1,001

Chung Kam Kwong 408 384 – – 50 – – – 458 384

Lo Wai Ming 252 240 – – 50 – – – 302 240

Lo Chao Ming 94 88 – – 50 – – – 144 88          

1,059 1,002 9,401 9,566 4,405 – 114 138 14,979 10,706          

During the year ended 30 June 2019, 88,460,000 share options (2018: Nil) have been granted to the directors of the 

Company, and the corresponding share-based payment expenses of HK$4,405,000 (2018: HK$Nil) has been recognised 

in profit or loss.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration, and neither incentive 

payment nor compensation for loss of office was paid to a director during the current and prior years.
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9.	 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

The five highest paid individuals of the Group include four (2018: two) executive directors of the Company, details of 

whose remuneration are included above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2018: three) non-director individual was as 

follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Salaries and other benefits 1,494 3,323

Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 18 54  

1,512 3,377  

Remuneration of these individuals was within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2019 2018  

Nil – HK$1,000,000 – –

HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 – 3

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 1 –  

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management were within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2019 2018  

Nil – HK$1,000,000 7 8

HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 – 3

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 3 –

HK$2,500,000 – HK$3,000,000 1 –

HK$3,000,001 – HK$3,500,000 – –

HK$3,500,001 – HK$4,000,000 – –

HK$4,000,001 – HK$4,500,000 – –

HK$6,500,001 – HK$7,000,000 – 1

HK$7,000,001 – HK$10,000,000 1 –  
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10.	 FINANCE COSTS

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Interest on borrowings 13,214 8,439

Imputed interest on promissory notes (Note 34) 235 1,857  

13,449 10,296  

11.	 TAXATION

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Current tax for the year

Hong Kong profits tax

– provision for the year – –

Taxation in other jurisdictions:

– provision for the year 91 40

– under-provision in respect of previous years 162 458  

253 498  

Deferred tax for the year (Note 35) 5,292 4,870  

5,545 5,368  

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax is made for current year and prior year as there is no assessable profits arising 

in Hong Kong for both years. Taxation in other countries and jurisdictions is calculated at the rates applicable in the 

respective jurisdictions in which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect 

thereof.

The domestic tax rate of principal subsidiaries in the PRC is used as it is where the operations of the Group are 

substantially based. The corporate income tax for enterprises in the PRC is calculated at the applicable standard rate of 

25% for both years.
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11.	 TAXATION (continued)

Reconciliation between taxation for the year and loss before taxation presented in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income is as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Loss before taxation (297,291) (80,307)  

Tax calculated at the rates applicable to the tax jurisdictions concerned (74,322) (20,077)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 78,354 52,470

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (5,219) (28,056)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 6,322 3,223

Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (830) –

Under-provision in respect of prior years 162 458

Tax effect of deductible temporary difference not recognised (1,865) 139

Tax effect on share of results of associates 2,902 (2,157)

Tax effect on share of results of joint ventures 41 (632)  

Taxation for the year 5,545 5,368  

12.	 OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Other rental income 221 223

Exchange difference, net – 10,444

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6,360 –

Others 4,371 3,659  

10,952 14,326  
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13.	 DIVIDEND

The directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the years ended 30 June 2018 and 2019.

14.	 LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based on the following data:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Loss attributable to owners of the Company (301,963) (85,639)  

2019 2018  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of  

basic and diluted loss per share 2,372,059,737 2,354,853,025  

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the subscription of the Company’s outstanding potential 

dilutive ordinary shares as they are anti-dilutive. Therefore, the diluted loss per share was the same as the basic loss per 

share for the years ended 30 June 2019 and 2018.
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15.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings

Leasehold

improvements

Equipment,

furniture and

fixtures

Plant and

machinery

Motor

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

COST:

At 1 July 2017 74,629 22,507 67,271 292,542 30,167 487,116

Additions – – 1,183 3,039 – 4,222

Disposals – (244) (875) – – (1,119)

Exchange realignment 2,139 588 813 6,900 474 10,914      

At 30 June 2018 and 

1 July 2018 76,768 22,851 68,392 302,481 30,641 501,133

Additions – 2,297 532 85 – 2,914

Disposals (96) – – (24,303) (208) (24,607)

Exchange realignment (3,040) (877) (3,011) (9,991) (729) (17,648)      

At 30 June 2019 73,632 24,271 65,913 268,272 29,704 461,792      

ACCUMULATED 

DEPRECIATION AND 

IMPAIRMENT:

At 1 July 2017 45,200 15,369 48,937 255,344 23,311 388,161

Depreciation 4,606 905 4,225 6,020 1,594 17,350

Impairment – – – 7,122 – 7,122

Disposals – (244) (617) – – (861)

Exchange realignment 1,226 397 1,082 6,004 334 9,043      

At 30 June 2018 and 

1 July 2018 51,032 16,427 53,627 274,490 25,239 420,815

Depreciation 4,402 1,469 3,837 3,692 1,197 14,597

Disposals (39) – – (17,182) (187) (17,408)

Exchange realignment (2,070) (632) (2,276) (9,176) (601) (14,755)      

At 30 June 2019 53,325 17,264 55,188 251,824 25,648 403,249      

NET CARRYING AMOUNT:

At 30 June 2019 20,307 7,007 10,725 16,448 4,056 58,543      

At 30 June 2018 25,736 6,424 14,765 27,991 5,402 80,318      

During the year ended 30 June 2019, items of plant and machinery relating to manufacturing activities were retired and 

accordingly an impairment loss of HK$Nil (2018: HK$7,122,000) was recognised in profit or loss.
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16.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Fair value at beginning of year 303,146 259,889

Change in fair value 41,618 37,540

Exchange realignment (10,485) 5,717  

334,279 303,146

Less: classified as held for sale (Note 49) (13,119) –  

Fair value at end of year 321,160 303,146  

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 30 June 2019 by Peak Vision and LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited 

(“LCH”), which are independent firms of professionally qualified valuers, who have among their staff Fellows of the Hong 

Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the locations and category of properties being valued. The valuation 

of the investment properties, including the industrial buildings and the residential buildings, was arrived at by capitalising 

the rental income derived from existing tenancies with due provision for any reversionary income potential of the tenancies 

using the investment approach or using the direct comparison approach by making reference to comparable sales 

evidence available as in the relevant market. These valuations gave rise to net fair value gains of HK$41,618,000 (2018: 

HK$37,540,000) during the year.

The fair value of the investment properties is a Level 3 recurring fair value measurement.

For the significant unobservable inputs used under the investment approach, term yield ranging from 5.9% to 19.89% 

(2018: 2.8% to 19.64%), reversionary yield ranging from 8.9% to 9.9% (2018: 2.8% to 9.64%) and average market unit 

rent per month ranging from RMB11 to RMB32 (2018: RMB11.1 to RMB26.7) per square metre are adopted for the 

industrial buildings whereas term yield of 3.25% (2018: 3.5%), reversionary yield of 3.5% (2018: 3.75%) and average 

market unit rent per month ranging from RMB17 to RMB27 (2018: RMB19 to RMB27) per square metre are adopted for 

the residential buildings.

Under the direct comparison approach, significant inputs of the Group’s industrial buildings in the PRC include price 

per square metre of RMB854 to RMB3,084 (2018: RMB1,483) adjusted for a discount of 5% (2018: discount of 7%) 

specific to the location of the Group’s industrial building located in the PRC compared to recent sales on the comparable 

transactions.

The fair value measurement of investment properties is negatively correlated to the term yield and reversionary yield and 

positively correlated to average market unit rent per month under the investment approach, and is positively correlated 

to the price per square feet and square metre where appropriate and a favourable adjustment on the comparable 

transactions under the direct comparison approach.

The fair value measurement is based on the above properties highest and best use, which does not differ from their 

current use.
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16.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value adjustments of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss. All the gains recognised in profit or loss for 

the year arise from the investment properties held at the end of the reporting period.

There was no transfer between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

The Group’s investment properties are mainly situated in the PRC.

As at 30 June 2019, the Group pledged investment properties with aggregate carrying amount of HK$240,760,000 (2018: 

HK$168,250,000) to secure the borrowings of the Group (Note 33).

17.	 PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS FOR LAND

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Carrying amount at beginning of year 110,526 51,009

Additions – 61,662

Disposal (62) –

Charged to the profit or loss during the year (2,885) (2,711)

Exchange realignment (4,372) 566  

Carrying amount at end of year 103,207 110,526  

The Group’s carrying amount of the prepaid lease payments for land is analysed as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Leasehold land situated in the PRC 102,999 110,248

Leasehold land situated in Hong Kong 208 278  

103,207 110,526  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Non-current 100,354 107,552

Current 2,853 2,974  

103,207 110,526  
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18.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Mining right Trading right Goodwill Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

COST:

At 1 July 2017 1,168,048 630 57,570 1,226,248

Exchange realignment (133) – – (133)    

At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 1,167,915 630 57,570 1,226,115

Exchange realignment (204) – – (204)    

At 30 June 2019 1,167,711 630 57,570 1,225,911    

ACCUMULATED 

AMORTISATION AND 

IMPAIRMENT:

At 1 July 2017 601,891 – – 601,891

Impairment 12,601 – 11,351 23,952

Exchange realignment (3) – – (3)    

At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 614,489 – 11,351 625,840

Impairment 96,502 630 46,219 143,351

Exchange realignment (3) – – (3)    

At 30 June 2019 710,988 630 57,570 769,188    

NET CARRYING AMOUNT:

At 30 June 2019 456,723 – – 456,723    

At 30 June 2018 553,426 630 46,219 600,275    
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18.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Mining right

The mining right represents the right to conduct mining activities in the location of Nergui, Delgerkhangai soum, Dundgobi 

aimag, the State of Mongolia, for a period of 30 years, expiring on 23 November 2039. The mining operating license is 

issued by the Mineral Resources Authority of the State of Mongolia. It is extendable by 2 successive 20 years each.

The mining right is subject to impairment review whenever there are indications that the mining right’s carrying amount 

may not be recoverable.

In performing the impairment testing for the year, the directors of the Company have engaged Peak Vision in determining 

the recoverable amount of the CGU for which the mining right belongs to (the “Mining CGU”). Given the current 

development status of mining right, management has determined that recoverable amount of the Mining CGU on a fair-

value-less-costs-of-disposal basis. The calculation has incorporated assumptions that a typical market participant would 

use in estimating the recoverable amount of the Mining CGU, which adopted cash flow projection for a period of 9 years 

which is estimated to be the entire period of mining activities, discounted by the post-tax discount rate of 23.08%. In 

determining the discount rate, the weighted average cost of capital was used, which is determined with reference to the 

Mongolia Bank Prime Loan Rate and has taken into account the average of the weight of debt of industry comparables. 

For the estimation of inflation rate, inflation rates relevant to the local Mongolian economy and the commodity market are 

taken as reference.

The fair value of the mining right is a Level 3 non-recurring fair value measurement.

As at 30 June 2019, the carrying amount of the Mining CGU was HK$558,922,000, which was higher than the 

recoverable amount of HK$462,420,000 based on the above assessment, resulting in an impairment loss of 

HK$96,502,000. The impairment loss is primarily due to the delay in the mining plan and hence a corresponding decrease 

in future cash inflows, which is attributed to the decrease in the recoverable amount of the mining right.

As at 30 June 2018, the carrying amount of the Mining CGU was HK$574,453,000, which was higher than the 

recoverable amount of HK$561,852,000 based on the above assessment, resulting in an impairment loss of 

HK$12,601,000. The impairment loss is primarily due to the delay in the mining plan and hence a corresponding decrease 

in future cash inflows, which is attributed to the decrease in the recoverable amount of the mining right.
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18.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Trading right and goodwill

Trading right confers a right to the Group to trade securities and options contracts on or through the Stock Exchange 

such that the Group can conduct the business of securities brokerage.

Trading right is considered by the directors of the Group as having indefinite useful life because there is no foreseeable 

limit on the period over which the trading right is expected to generate cash flows to the Group. Trading right is not 

amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead, it is tested for impairment annually and whenever there 

is an indication that it may be impaired. For such purposes, trading right is allocated to the businesses of securities 

brokerage, placing and underwriting services and margin financing as one CGU (the “Securities CGU”). For the purposes 

of impairment testing, goodwill arising from the related business combination is also allocated to the Securities CGU.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group determined not to continue to carry out regulated activities under the 

Securities and Futures Ordinances (“SFO”) and voluntarily surrendered its licenses under the SFO. Accordingly, full 

impairment losses on the Group’s trading right and goodwill allocated to Securities CGU amounted to HK$630,000 and 

HK$46,219,000 respectively were recognised in profit or loss.

At 30 June 2018, the recoverable amount of the Securities CGU has been determined from value-in-use calculations 

based on cash flow projections from formally approved budgets covering a three-year period. Cash flows beyond the 

three-year period are extrapolated using an estimated weighted average growth rate of 3%, which does not exceed the 

long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.

Pre-tax discount rate 15.93%

Growth rate within the three-year period 3%

The discount rate reflects specific risks relating to the Securities CGU. The growth rate within the three-year period have 

been based on past experience.

As at 30 June 2018, the carrying amount of the Securities CGU was HK$59,741,000, which was higher than the 

recoverable amount of HK$48,390,000 based on the above assessment, resulting in an impairment loss on goodwill of 

HK$11,351,000.

19.	 PREPAYMENT FOR ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Prepayments made for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 34,134 –  

20.	 OTHER ASSETS

As at 30 June 2019, included in other assets are deposits and prepaid fees in relation to business of securities brokerage 

of HK$200,000 (2018: HK$200,000).
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21.	 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries as at the end of reporting period are set out below:

Place of 

incorporation/

Particulars of

 issued and

Proportion of effective interest 

held by the Company

Name of subsidiary operation paid up capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities      

Aberdeen Investments Limited Samoa/PRC 1 share of US$1 – 100% Property holding

Chau’s Electrical (BVI) Company 

Limited

British Virgin Islands 

(“BVI”)/PRC

1 share of US$1 – 100% Property holding

Chau’s Electrical Company Limited Hong Kong (“HK”) HK$1,000 ordinary

HK$500,000

non-voting deferred

(Note (a))

– 100% Manufacture and trading of 

cable and wire products 

and property holding

Chau’s Industrial Investments 

Limited

BVI US$1,000 100% – Investment holding

東莞華藝銅業有限公司

Dongguan Hua Yi Brass Products 

Co., Ltd.#

PRC US$20,025,000 – 100% Manufacture and trading 

of copper products and 

metallurgical grade bauxite

東莞橋梓周氏電業有限公司

Dongguan Qiaozi Chau’s Electrical 

Co., Ltd#

PRC HK$6,810,000 – 100% Manufacture and trading of 

cable and wire products

東莞新寶精化有限公司

Dongguan Xin Bao Fine Chemical 

Co., Ltd.* (“Xin Bao”)

PRC HK$65,000,000 – 89.62% Property holding

Gosberton Assets Limited BVI US$1 – 100% Holding of trademarks

Great Measure Investments Limited BVI US$1 100% – Investment holding

Hua Yi Copper Products 

Company Limited

HK HK$5,000,000 – 100% Manufacture and trading 

of copper products and 

metallurgical grade bauxite

Ikh Shijir Erdene LLC The State of Mongolia US$100,000 – 100% Mining business (not yet 

commenced)
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21.	 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of 

incorporation/

Particulars of

 issued and

Proportion of effective interest 

held by the Company

Name of subsidiary operation paid up capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities      

上海周氏電業有限公司 

Shanghai Chau’s Electrical  

Co., Ltd#

PRC US$2,500,000 – 100% Manufacture and trading of 

cable and wire products 

and property holding

Sun Progress Limited BVI US$1 – 100% Investment holding

Yellowstone Assets Limited BVI US$1 – 100% Investment holding

東莞優品商貿發展有限公司

Dongguan Youpin Business 

Development Co., Ltd. 

(“Youpin”) (formerly known as 東

莞市韻鑫高分子科技有限公司

Dongguan Yunxin Polymer 

Technology Co., Ltd.)

PRC RMB3,000,000 – 51%

(2018: 100%)

(Note 40)

Manufacture and trading of 

plastic products; trading of 

frozen food

Pico Zeman Securities (HK) Ltd 

(“Pico Zeman”)

HK HK$47,650,000

(2018: HK$45,000,000)

– 93.94%

(2018: 100%)

(Note 40)

Trading of securities 

(cessation of business)

廉江市周氏石材有限公司

Lianjiang Zhou’s Marble Limited  

(“Zhau’s Marble”)

PRC RMB10,000,000 – 80% Processing and trading of 

marble related products 

(not yet commenced)

#	 Wholly-owned foreign enterprise
*	 Equity joint venture

Notes:

(a)	 The deferred shares, which are not held by the Group, practically carry no right to dividend or to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any 
general meeting of the subsidiary or to participate in any distribution on winding up.

(b)	 Except for Chau’s Industrial Investments Limited and Great Measure Investments Limited, all the subsidiaries are indirectly held by the 
Company.

None of the subsidiaries issued any debt security at the end of reporting period.
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22.	 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Share of net assets 33,600 37,802

Goodwill 18,638 41,509  

52,238 79,311  

Particulars of the Group’s associates as at 30 June 2019 are as follows:

Name of associate

Form of business 

structure

Place of

incorporation/

operation

Proportion of

effective

interest held

by the Group Principal activities     

Idea International Holdings Ltd.# Limited liability 

company

Cayman Islands 49% (direct) Investment holding

Idea Advertising Holdings Ltd.# Limited liability 

company

BVI 49% (indirect) Investment holding

Idea Advertising Hong Kong 

Company Ltd.#

Limited liability 

company

Hong Kong 49% (indirect) Investment holding

廣州市藝典廣告有限公司# Limited liability 

company

PRC 49% (indirect) Advertising and media 

services, branding and 

marketing services, 

corporate image and 

strategy services and 

innovation strategy 

services

珠海藝典廣告有限公司# Limited liability 

company

PRC 49% (indirect) Advertising and media 

services, branding and 

marketing services, 

corporate image and 

strategy services and 

innovation strategy 

services
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22.	 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Name of associate

Form of business 

structure

Place of

incorporation/

operation

Proportion of

effective

interest held

by the Group Principal activities     

霍爾果斯藝典廣告有限公司# Limited liability 

company

PRC 49% (indirect) Advertising and media 

services, branding and 

marketing services, 

corporate image and 

strategy services and 

innovation strategy 

services

Ocean Pride Ventures Limited* Limited liability 

company

BVI 17% (direct) Investment holding

Vietta Investment Holdings 

Limited*

Limited liability 

company

Hong Kong 17% (indirect) Investment holding

江門市健輝照明科技有限公司* Limited liability 

company

PRC 17% (indirect) Investment holding

江門市博林照明科技有限公司* Limited liability 

company

PRC 17% (indirect) Research, development, 

processing and sales 

of some furnishing 

lighting appliances, LED 

lighting products and 

other electrical materials 

and parts for various 

electrical appliances in 

the PRC

#	 Collectively known as the “Idea Group”
*	 Collectively known as the “Ocean Pride Group”, acquired during the year ended 30 June 2019. Details of which are set out in Note 46.

The financial statements of the above companies are not audited by BDO Limited or any of its member firms.

During the year, the recoverable amount of the Idea Group was determined by the directors of the Company based 

on value-in-use calculations with reference to a professional valuation performed by Peak Vision. The calculation used 

cash flow projection based on the financial budget approved by management covering a three-year period. The cash 

flows beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3% (2018: 3%), which is based on 

the relevant industry growth rate and does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the business in which the 

associates operate. The pre-tax discount rate adopted in the calculation is 18.78% (2018: 18.05%).
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22.	 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

As at 30 June 2019, the carrying amount of the Idea Group, before impairment, is higher than its recoverable amount 

based on the above assessment. Accordingly, an impairment loss on goodwill included in interests in associates of 

HK$27,863,000 (2018: HK$42,519,000) was recognised in profit or loss.

Summarised financial information in relation to the Idea Group is presented below:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

At 30 June

Total non-current assets 18 16,623  

Total current assets 62,620 79,526  

Total current liabilities 12,505 19,001  

Total non-current liabilities – –  

Net assets 50,133 77,148  

Proportion of effective interest held by the Group 49% 49%

Group’s share of net assets of associates 24,565 37,802  

For the year ended 30 June

Revenue 2,765 60,387

(Loss)/profit from operations (24,186) 17,604

Other comprehensive income (2,827) 1,090  

Total comprehensive income for the year (27,013) 18,694  

Share of results of associates (11,851) 8,626  

Share of other comprehensive income of associates (1,385) 534  
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22.	 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

During the year, the recoverable amount of the Ocean Pride Group was determined by the directors of the Company 

based on value-in-use calculations with reference to a professional valuation performed by Peak Vision. The calculation 

used cash flow projection based on the financial budget approved by management covering a five-year period. The cash 

flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3%, which is based on the relevant 

industry growth rate and does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the business in which the associates 

operate. The pre-tax discount rate adopted in the calculation is 17.82%.

As at 30 June 2019, the value-in-use of the Ocean Pride Group exceeded its carrying amount, and hence the goodwill of 

the respective CGU included in the Group’s interests in associates was not regarded as impaired.

Summarised financial information in relation to the Ocean Pride Group is presented below:

2019

HK$’000 

At 30 June

Total non-current assets 57,762 

Total current assets 79,093 

Total current liabilities 70,565 

Total non-current liabilities 13,144 

Net assets 53,146 

Proportion of effective interest held by the Group 17%

Group’s share of net assets of associates 9,035 

For the year ended 30 June

Revenue 29,646

Profit from operations 1,427

Other comprehensive income 94 

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,521 

Share of results of associates 243 

Share of other comprehensive income of associates 16 



Solartech International Holdings Limited130

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

23.	 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Share of net assets 32,770 32,791

Less: impairment (16,363) –  

16,407 32,791  

Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures as at 30 June 2019 are as follows:

Name of joint venture

Place of

incorporation/

operation

Proportion of

effective interest

held by the Group Principal activities    

Venture Max Limited BVI 10% (direct) Investment holding

Mongolian Copper Mining LLC Mongolia 10% (indirect) Mining business (not yet 

commenced)

The Group has joint control over the arrangements as unanimous consent is required from all parties to the arrangements 

for the relevant activities of the aforesaid companies. The contractual arrangement in relation to the aforesaid companies 

provide the Group with only the rights to the net assets of the joint arrangements, with the rights to the assets and 

obligation for the liabilities of the joint arrangements resting primarily with these companies.

The financial statements of the above companies are not audited by BDO Limited or any of its member firms.

During the year, the recoverable amount of the Group’s joint ventures was determined by the directors of the Company 

based on value-in-use calculations with reference to a professional valuation performed by Peak Vision. The calculation 

used cash flow projection for a period of 18 years, discounted by the post-tax discount rate of 24.05% (2018: 25.45%). In 

determining the discount rate, the weighted average cost of capital was used, which is determined with reference to the 

Mongolia Bank Prime Loan Rate and has taken into account the average of the weight of debt of industry comparables. 

For the estimation of inflation rate, inflation rates relevant to the local Mongolian economy and the commodity market are 

taken as reference.

As at 30 June 2019, the carrying amount of the Group’s joint ventures, before impairment, is higher than its recoverable 

amount based on the above assessment. Accordingly, an impairment loss on interests in joint ventures of HK$16,363,000 

(2018: reversal of impairment loss amounting to HK$2,734,000) was recognised in profit or loss.
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23.	 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Summarised financial information in relation to the joint ventures is presented below:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

At 30 June

Total non-current assets 349,087 348,928  

Cash and cash equivalents 641 968

Other current assets 949 2,621  

Total current assets 1,590 3,589  

Current financial liabilities (13,030) (13,973)

Other current liabilities – (24)  

Total current liabilities (13,030) (13,997)  

Total non-current liabilities (9,949) (10,612)  

Net assets 327,698 327,908  

Reconciliation to the Group’s interests in joint ventures:

Proportion of effective interest held by the Group 10% 10%

Group’s share of net assets of the joint ventures 32,770 32,791  

For the year ended 30 June

Exploration expenses (1,555) (1,970)

Other expenses (62) (123)  

Loss for the year (1,617) (2,093)

Other comprehensive income 1,406 815  

Total comprehensive income for the year (211) (1,278)  

Share of results of joint ventures (162) (209)  

Share of other comprehensive income of joint ventures 141 82  
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24.	 INVENTORIES

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Raw materials 13,251 13,219

Work in progress 1,786 2,278

Finished goods 7,648 16,160  

22,685 31,657  

During the year ended 30 June 2019, a reversal of write-down of inventories amounting to HK$1,324,000 (2018: a write-

down of inventories of HK$2,135,000) is recorded in cost of sales as presented in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss.

25.	 DEBTORS, OTHER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Trade debtors, net 45,421 55,743

Loans receivable 148,994 98,789

Prepayments 5,955 8,164

Deposits and other receivables, net 29,079 75,272  

229,449 237,968  

(i)	 The Group usually grants credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days (2018: 30 to 60 days) to its trade customers.

(ii)	 The aging analysis of net trade debtors, based on invoice date, as of the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Within 30 days 21,100 28,222

31 – 60 days 9,226 12,146

61 – 90 days 7,283 10,621

Over 90 days 7,812 4,754  

45,421 55,743  
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25.	 DEBTORS, OTHER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 
(continued)

(iii)	 The movements in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year, including both specific and collective loss 

components, are as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

At beginning of year under HKAS 39 8,389 8,009

Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 550 –  

Adjusted balance at beginning of year 8,939 8,009

Allowance for doubtful debts recognised for trade debtors 

arising from contracts with customers 78 1,971

Reversal of expected credit loss/allowance for doubtful debts (6,953) (1,295)

Amount written off as uncollectible – (496)

Exchange realignment (287) 200  

At end of year 1,777 8,389  

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s trade debtors of HK$1,777,000 (2018: HK$8,389,000) were individually 

determined to be impaired. The individually impaired receivables related to customers that were in financial 

difficulties or had a prolonged delay in settlement, and management assessed that none of the receivables is 

expected to be recovered. Consequently, specific allowances for doubtful debts were recognised. The Group does 

not hold any collateral over these balances.

Except for the above, no allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods and 

provision of services.
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25.	 DEBTORS, OTHER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 
(continued)

(iv)	 The aging analysis of net trade debtors that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as 

follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Neither past due nor impaired 34,241 47,063

Past due 1–30 days 6,732 6,633

Past due 31–90 days 4,213 2,015

Past due more than 90 days 235 32  

45,421 55,743  

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range of customers for whom there was no 

recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a good 

track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is 

necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances 

are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

(v)	 As at 30 June 2019, included in debtors, other loans and receivables, deposits and prepayments mainly consisted 

of:

(a)	 Other loans receivable from seven (2018: two) independent third parties with aggregate principal amount 

of HK$148,177,000 (2018: HK$89,476,000) and related interest receivables of HK$11,958,000 (2018: 

HK$3,012,000).

These loan receivables were unsecured, interest-bearing at rates ranged from 5.5% to 13% (2018: 5.5% to 

12%) per annum and repayable within twelve months from the end of reporting period.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, after taking into account the past payment history, 

reversal of impairment of the loan receivables of HK$10,600,000 is made at the end of the reporting period.

(b)	 Amounts due from financial institutions amounting to HK$2,023,000 (2018: HK$3,010,000) resulting from 

the net settlements of derivative financial instruments which were in the closed-out positions at the end of 

reporting period.

(c)	 An amounts due from non-controlling equity owners of the subsidiaries amounted to HK$5,757,000 (2018: 

HK$6,810,000). The balance are unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

(d)	 An amount due from a joint venture amounted to HK$16,221,000 (2018: HK$16,221,000). The balance is 

secured by the shares of the joint venture, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
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25.	 DEBTORS, OTHER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 
(continued)

(vi)	 The below table reconciled the impairment loss of other loans and receivables for the year:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

At beginning of year under HKAS 39 16,140 14,266

Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 4,100 –  

Adjusted balance at beginning of year 20,240 14,266

Expected credit loss/impairment loss recognised during the year 10,600 1,799

Exchange realignment – 75  

At end of year 30,840 16,140  

26.	 BILLS RECEIVABLE

Bills receivable generally have credit terms ranging from 3 to 6 months. No bills receivables as at 30 June 2019 and 2018 

are past due.

27.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Equity securities held for trading and listed in Hong Kong 26,699 59,522  

Fair values of the listed equity securities are determined based on the quoted market prices in an active market. During 

the year ended 30 June 2019, a fair value loss of HK$24,262,000 (2018: fair value gain of HK$6,566,000) and a net loss 

on disposal of HK$7,823,000 (2018: a net gain on disposal of HK$821,000) are recognised in profit or loss.
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28.	 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES

Derivative not qualified for hedging

2019 2018

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

Copper futures contracts 24 – – 67    

The major terms of the outstanding copper futures contracts of the Group which has not been designated as hedging 

instruments were as follows:

As at 

30 June 2019

As at

30 June 2018  

Quantities (in tonnes) 125 125

Average price per tonne US$5,868 US$6,626

Delivery period From July 2019

to September 2019

From July 2018

to September 2018

Fair value gain/(loss) of copper futures contracts recognised as 

current assets/(liabilities) (in HK$’000) 24 (67)  

The decrease in fair value of derivative financial instruments amounting to HK$1,132,000 (2018: increase in fair value of 

HK$738,000) has been recongnised in profit or loss during the year.

29.	 PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2019, save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group has pledged the following 

assets to secure general banking facilities and other loans granted to the Group. The carrying amounts of these assets are 

analysed as follows:

Note 2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Investment properties 16 240,760 168,250

Pledged bank deposits 2,274 11,851  

243,034 180,101  
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30.	 BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND BANK BALANCES HELD ON BEHALF OF 
BROKERAGE CLIENTS

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for 

varying periods ranging from one day to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and 

earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy financial 

institutions with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the bank balances and cash approximate their fair 

values.

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Bank balances and cash and bank balances held on behalf of brokerage 

clients were denominated in the following currencies:

RMB 52,053 68,089

HK$ 5,736 20,522

U.S. Dollars 2,092 3,210

EURO 86 51

Mongolian Tughrik 71 340  

60,038 92,212  

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control 

Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted 

to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

In respect of the Group’s business of securities brokerage, the Group maintains segregated trust accounts and bank time 

deposits with authorised institutions to hold clients’ monies. The Group has classified clients’ monies separately under 

current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position and has recognised the corresponding trade creditors of 

HK$18,000 (2018: HK$5,451,000) to respective clients as included in the trade creditors in Note 32 on the ground that it 

is liable for any loss or misappropriation of clients’ monies and does not have a currently enforceable right to offset those 

payables with the deposits placed.
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31.	 DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 30 June 2019

During the year, 2,981,748 new shares of Pico Zeman were allotted and subscribed by the then director of Pico Zeman 

at an aggregate amount of HK$1,450,000. Upon the completion of these subscription, the Group’s equity interest in Pico 

Zeman was reduced from 100% to 93.94%. Such deemed disposal does not result in the loss of control on Pico Zeman 

and is accounted for as an equity transaction with non-controlling interest.

The Group and an independent third party agreed to make capital injection into a Group’s then wholly-owned subsidiary, 

DG Yunxin, amounted to RMB31,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$36,270,000) and RMB32,670,000 (equivalent 

to approximately HK$37,167,000) respectively. Upon the completion of capital injection, the equity interest of the Group in 

DG Yunxin reduced to 51%. As at 30 June 2019, the capital injection has not been completed.

The Group also disposed of its 49% equity interest in a then wholly-owned subsidiary On Legend Limited (“On Legend”) 

at a cash consideration of HK$490. The disposal does not result in the loss of control on On Legend and is accounted for 

as an equity transaction with non-controlling interest.
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31.	 DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018

The Group disposed of the entire issued share capital in a subsidiary, China Glory Management Limited (together with 

its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the Disposal Group), at the consideration of HK$140,000,000 in cash. The 

Disposal Group was principally engaged in holding of land use rights, and manufacturing and trading of cables and wires 

in the PRC.

The assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group at the date of disposal are:

HK$’000 

Property, plant and equipment 549

Investment properties 131,482

Debtors, other loans and receivables, deposits, and prepayments 15,688

Bank balances and cash 1,515

Creditors, other advances and accrued charges (2,052)

Deferred tax liabilities (19,911) 

Net assets disposed of 127,271

Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the net assets of the Disposal Group reclassified 

from equity to profit or loss on loss of control of the Disposal Group 13,965

Loss on disposal (1,236) 

Total consideration 140,000 

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

Consideration received in cash 140,000

Less: Cash and bank balances disposed of (1,515) 

138,485 
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32.	 CREDITORS, OTHER ADVANCES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Trade creditors 23,136 34,573

Receipt in advance (Note (i)) – 1,850

Contract liabilities (Note (i)) 1,577 –

Other payables and accruals 36,686 41,091  

61,399 77,514  

Aging analysis of trade creditors, based on invoice date or the date of recognition, is as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

0 – 30 days 11,821 20,318

31 – 60 days 5,393 7,199

61 – 90 days 854 2,037

Over 90 days 5,068 5,019  

23,136 34,573  

Note (i):

Contract liabilities primarily relate to the advances received from customers for sale of goods. The advances remain as contract liabilities until they 
are recognised as revenue when control of goods is transferred to the customers. Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract 
liabilities are set out in Note 3.
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32.	 CREDITORS, OTHER ADVANCES AND ACCRUED CHARGES (continued)

Changes in the contract liabilities balances during the year are as follows:

2019

HK$’000 

At the beginning of the year 1,850

Cash received 1,648

Recognised as revenue (1,850)

Exchange realignment (71) 

At the end of year (1,577) 

HK$1,850,000 of the contract liabilities as at 1 July 2018 were recognised as revenue for the year ended 30 June 2019 

from performance obligations satisfied during the year.

The contract liabilities as at 30 June 2019 were expected to be recognised as revenue in the next 12 months. As 

permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contract which has an original expected 

duration of one year or less is not disclosed.

33.	 BORROWINGS

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Bank loans, secured 108,090 116,141

Other loans, secured 50,000 10,000  

158,090 126,141  

All borrowings are repayable within one year.

The effective interest rates for the bank loans is 6.53% (2018: 6.09% to 7.83%) per annum. The average effective interest 

rate for other loans range from 10% to 15.8% (2018: 10%) per annum.

All borrowings are denominated in the functional currencies of the relevant group entities and therefore exposed to 

minimal foreign exchange rate risk.

The Group’s bank loans are secured by the pledge of certain investment properties and bank deposits amounting to 

HK$187,260,000 (2018: HK$168,250,000) and HK$2,274,000 (2018: HK$11,851,000) respectively; and corporate 

guarantees from the Company and its certain subsidiaries. The other loans are secured by the pledge of certain 

investment properties amounting to HK$53,500,000 (2018: HK$Nil) and corporate guarantees from the Company.
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34.	 PROMISSORY NOTES

During the prior years, the Company issued promissory notes with principal amounts of HK$42,000,000 and 

HK$100,000,000 as part of the considerations to acquire 100% equity interest of Pico Zeman and 49% equity interest 

of IDEA respectively. The promissory notes are unsecured, bear interest at 6% per annum and matured at the second 

anniversary from the respective dates of issue, i.e. April and May 2018.

On 30 April 2019, the Company issued promissory note with principal amount of HK$15,000,000 as the consideration to 

acquire 17% equity interest of Ocean Pride Ventures Limited (Note 46). The promissory note was unsecured, bear interest 

at 6% per annum and matured at 30 April 2021.

The promissory notes are initially recognised at their fair values at the dates of issue and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The movements of the promissory notes during the year are as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

At 1 July – 23,871

Issued at fair value (Note 46) 13,769 –

Imputed interest 235 1,857

Redemption – (23,000)

Interest paid – (2,728)  

At 30 June 14,004 –  
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35.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following is the major deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group and their movements:

Investment

 properties

Accelerated 

tax 

depreciation Properties Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 1 July 2017 12,551 8,917 22,796 44,264

Charged/(credited) to profit or loss 

(Note 11) 7,743 (2,458) (415) 4,870

Exchange realignment 245 200 666 1,111    

At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 20,539 6,659 23,047 50,245

Charged/(credited) to profit or loss 

(Note 11) 9,866 (4,175) (399) 5,292

Exchange realignment (914) (133) (915) (1,962)    

At 30 June 2019 29,491 2,351 21,733 53,575    

As at 30 June 2019, the Group has unused tax losses of HK$213,304,000 (2018: HK$191,340,000) available for offset 

against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such tax losses due to unpredictability of 

future profit streams. Such tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 30 June 2019 and 2018, the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC have no unremitted earnings that are 

subject to withholding taxes.
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36.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Nominal value

2019 2018 2019 2018

’000 ’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each:

At beginning and end of the year 50,000,000 50,000,000 500,000 500,000    

Issued and fully paid:

At beginning of the year 2,365,032 2,351,232 23,650 23,512

Issue of shares on exercise of share 

options (Note) 9,500 13,800 95 138    

At end of the year 2,374,532 2,365,032 23,745 23,650    

Note:

During the year ended 30 June 2019, 9,500,000 (2018: 13,800,000) new ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the 
exercise of 9,500,000 (2018: 13,800,000) share options at an exercise price of HK$0.355 (2018: HK$0.355) per share (Note 37).

The exercise of the above share options gave rise to an aggregate proceeds of HK$3,372,000 (2018: HK$4,888,000), net of expenses, of which 
HK$95,000 (2018: HK$138,000) was credited to share capital and the remaining balance of HK$3,277,000 (2018: HK$4,750,000) was credited to 
share premium account.

The exercise of the above share options also resulted in the transfer of HK$1,532,000 (2018: HK$2,128,000) from share option reserve to share 
premium account.

All the new shares issued above rank pari passu in all respects with the existing shares.
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37.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 18 December 2012, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the primary purpose to 

attract, retain and motivate talented employees, executive and non-executive directors and consultants of the Company or 

any subsidiaries of associated companies or such persons who from time to time are determined by the board of directors 

(the “Board”) at its discretion as having contributed to the Group based on his/her performance and/or years of services, 

or it regarded as valuable resources and other relevant factors (the “Participants”), to strive for future developments and 

expansion of the Group. The Scheme will end on 17 December 2022.

Under the Scheme, the Board of the Company may grant options to the Participants to subscribe for shares in the 

Company at a price equal to the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 

quotations sheet on the offer date, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing price of the shares as 

stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and 

(iii) the nominal value of a share, subject to a maximum of 235,233,234 shares, representing approximately 10% of the 

issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the annual general meeting on 8 December 2017.

The following share options were outstanding under the scheme during the year:

Weighted 

average 

exercise price Number

Weighted 

average 

exercise price Number

2019 2019 2018 2018

HK$ HK$    

Outstanding at 1 July 0.355 84,580,000 0.355 113,380,000

Granted during the year 0.108 162,260,000 – –

Forfeited during the year – – 0.355 (15,000,000)

Lapsed during the year 0.355 (75,080,000) – –

Exercised during the year 0.355 (9,500,000) 0.355 (13,800,000)    

Outstanding at 30 June 0.108 162,260,000 0.355 84,580,000    
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37.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the weighted average fair value of each option granted was HK$0.05. The following 

information is relevant in the determination of the fair value of options granted under the Scheme operated by the 

Company.

2019 

Option pricing model used Binomial lattice

Weighted average share price at grant date 0.104

Exercise price 0.108

Weighted average contractual life 2 years

Expected volatility 112%

Expected dividend rate 0%

Risk-free interest rate 1.58% 

The volatility assumption, measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns, is based on the daily share 

price on the grant date of the share options.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, 162,260,000 (2018: Nil) share options were granted. Equity-settled share-

based payment expenses amounted to HK$8,414,000 (2018: HK$Nil) was recognised in profit or loss accordingly. All 

share options were vested and exercisable with the exercise price of HK$0.108. During the year ended 30 June 2019, 

9,500,000 and 75,080,000 share options were exercised and lapsed respectively. As at 30 June 2019, the Company had 

162,260,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme (2018: 84,580,000).
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38.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Notes 2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Non-current assets

Interests in subsidiaries 697,488 727,906  

Total non-current assets 697,488 727,906  

Current assets

Deposits and prepayments 1,091 2,856

Bank balances and cash 1,471 7,696  

Total current assets 2,562 10,552  

Current liabilities

Other advances and accrued charges 1,890 1,593  

Total current liabilities 1,890 1,593  

Net current assets 672 8,959  

Non-current liabilities

Promissory notes 14,004 –  

Total non-current liabilities 14,004 –  

Total net assets 684,156 736,865  

EQUITY

Capital and reserves

Share capital 36 23,745 23,650

Reserves 39 660,411 713,215  

Total equity 684,156 736,865  
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39.	 RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Share

premium

Contributed

surplus

Accumulated

losses

Share option

reserve Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

At 1 July 2017 1,816,745 763,907 (1,820,390) 17,919 778,181

Loss and total comprehensive 

income for the year – – (69,716) – (69,716)

Exercise of share options 6,878 – – (2,128) 4,750

Forfeiture of share options – – 2,284 (2,284) –     

At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 1,823,623 763,907 (1,887,822) 13,507 713,215

Loss and total comprehensive 

income for the year – – (64,495) – (64,495)

Share-based payment by granting 

share options – – – 8,414 8,414

Exercise of share options 4,809 – – (1,532) 3,277

Lapse of share options – – 11,975 (11,975) –     

At 30 June 2019 1,828,432 763,907 (1,940,342) 8,414 660,411     
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40.	 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

During the year ended 30 June 2018, Xin Bao has material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). The NCI of all other 

subsidiaries that are not wholly-owned by the Group are considered to be immaterial.

Summarised financial information in relation to the NCIs of Xin Bao in the respective years, before intra-group eliminations, 

is presented below:

2019

Xin Bao

HK$’000 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current assets 580

Non-current assets 52,526

Current liabilities (122,740)

Non-current liabilities (8,803) 

Net liabilities (78,437) 

Accumulated NCI (8,142) 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Revenue – 

Gain and total comprehensive income for the year 6,947 

Gain allocated to NCI 372 

Cash flows generated from operating activities 707

Cash flows used in financing activities (711) 

Net cash outflows (4) 
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40.	 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

2018

Xin Bao

HK$’000 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current assets 2,551

Non-current assets 47,368

Current liabilities (127,976)

Non-current liabilities (7,327) 

Net liabilities (85,384) 

Accumulated NCI (8,863) 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Revenue – 

Gain and total comprehensive income for the year 207 

Gain allocated to NCI 283 

Cash flows used in operating activities (3,519)

Cash flows generated from financing activities 3,501 

Net cash outflows (18) 

41.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated 

financial statements in respect of acquisition of:

Buildings 22,756 450  
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42.	 LEASE COMMITMENTS

As lessor

The Group leases out its investment properties under operating lease arrangements with leases negotiated for period 

ranging from one year to ten years (2018: one year to ten years). As at 30 June 2019, the Group had contracted with 

tenants for the following future minimum lease payments receivable:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Within one year 10,075 10,428

In the second to fifth year inclusive 34,962 37,456

Over five years 4,676 13,712  

49,713 61,596  

As lessee

The Group leases certain factory and office premises under operating lease arrangements. Leases of these properties are 

negotiated for an average term of two years (2018: average term of two years) and rentals are fixed over the contracted 

period. As at 30 June 2019, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases in respect of rented premises payable as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Within one year 2,820 6,499

In the second to fifth year inclusive 2,837 1,707  

5,657 8,206  

43.	 RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong 

Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Company which operate in the PRC are required to participate in a central 

pension scheme operated by the local municipal governments. These PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute certain 

percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they 

become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$5,668,000 (2018: HK$4,436,000) represent contributions paid/

payable to these schemes by the Group in the year. As at 30 June 2019, no forfeited contribution under these schemes is 

available to reduce the contribution payable in future (2018: Nil).
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44.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Same as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group did not have other material transactions with 

related parties.

Members of key management personnel of the Group during the year comprised only of the directors whose remuneration is 

set out in Note 9.

45.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 

provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce 

cost of capital.

Capital structure of the Group comprises equity plus debts raised by the Group, including borrowings and promissory 

notes, net with bank balances and cash. The Group’s management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost 

of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of management, the Group will 

balance its overall capital structure through new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or redemption of existing 

debts. No change was made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended 30 June 

2019.

The net debt to equity ratio at the end of reporting period was as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Debts 172,094 126,141

Less: bank balances and cash (60,038) (92,212)  

Net debts 112,056 33,929  

Total equity 1,122,244 1,408,706  

Net debt to equity ratio 10.0% 2.4%  
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46.	 ACQUISITION OF ASSOCIATES

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group completed the acquisition of 17% equity interests in Ocean Pride and its 

subsidiaries (collectively the “Ocean Pride Group”) at an aggregate nominal consideration of HK$15,000,000 which was 

satisfied in promissory notes of HK$15,000,000 in favour of the vendor by the Company upon the date of completion of 

acquisition.

The fair values of the consideration and identifiable assets and liabilities of the Ocean Pride Group attributable to the 

Group, as at the completion date of the acquisition, are as below:

HK$’000 

Fair value of consideration:

Promissory notes issued (Note 34) 13,769

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of Ocean Pride

Group attributable to the Group (8,777) 

Goodwill 4,992 

Further details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 8 March 2019 and 30 April 2019.
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47.	 SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORIES

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at 30 June 2019 and 2018 are analysed 

into the following categories.

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000  

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost

– Debtors, other loans and receivables and deposits 223,494 229,804

– Bills receivable 4,261 14,310

– Pledged bank deposits 2,274 11,851

– Bank balances and cash 60,038 92,212

Financial assets at FVTPL

– Equity investments 26,699 59,522

– Derivative financial assets 24 –  

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

– Creditors, other advances and accrued charges 59,822 77,514

– Borrowings 158,090 126,141

– Promissory notes 14,004 –

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

– Derivative financial liabilities – 67  
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48.	 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and liabilities that:

–	 are offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position; or

–	 are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that covers similar financial 

instruments, irrespective of whether they are offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

Under the agreement of continuous net settlement made between the Group and Hong Kong Securities Clearing 

Company Limited (“HKSCC”), the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the money obligation receivable and 

payable with HKSCC on the same settlement date and the Company intends to set off on a net basis.

(a)	 Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangement or similar 
arrangements

As at 30 June 2019

Type of financial assets

Gross amount 

of recognised 

financial assets

Gross amount of 

recognised 

financial liabilities 

offset in the 

statement of 

financial position

Net amount of 

financial assets 

presented in

 the statement 

of financial 

position

Related amounts not offset in the 

statement of financial position

Collateral 

received

Financial 

instruments Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Trade receivables due from 

clearing houses – – – – – –      

As at 30 June 2018

Type of financial assets

Gross amount 

of recognised 

financial assets

Gross amount of 

recognised 

financial liabilities 

offset in the 

statement of 

financial position

Net amount of 

financial assets 

presented in

 the statement 

of financial 

position

Related amounts not offset in the 

statement of financial position

Collateral 

received

Financial 

instruments Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Trade receivables due from 

clearing houses 510,603 (509,842) 761 – – 761      
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48.	 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)	 Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangement or similar 
arrangements

As at 30 June 2019

Type of financial liabilities

Gross amount

of recognised

financial liabilities

Gross amount

of recognised

financial assets

offset in the

statement of

financial position

Net amount of

financial liabilities

presented in the

statement of

financial position

Related amounts not offset in

the statement of financial position

Collateral 

received

Financial 

instruments Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Trade payables due to 

clearing houses – – – – – –      

As at 30 June 2018

Type of financial liabilities

Gross amount

of recognised

financial liabilities

Gross amount

of recognised

financial assets

offset in the

statement of

financial position

Net amount of

financial liabilities

presented in the

statement of

financial position

Related amounts not offset in

the statement of financial position

Collateral 

received

Financial 

instruments Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Trade payables due to clearing 

houses 509,842 (509,842) – – – –      

49.	 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group and certain independent third parties entered into sale and purchase 

agreements, pursuant to which the Group agreed to dispose of and the independent third parties agreed to purchase 

certain investment properties of the Group at an aggregate consideration of HK$13,700,000. As at 30 June 2019, the 

disposal of the investment properties has not been completed and these investment properties were classified as held for 

sale and measured at fair value at HK$13,119,000 (2018: HK$Nil).
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50.	 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

Interest

payable on

borrowings# Borrowings

Promissory

notes Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 1 July 2018 433 126,141 – 126,574

Changes from cash flows:

Proceeds from new bank loans – 109,283 – 109,283

Repayment of bank loans – (112,734) – (112,734)

Proceeds from other loans – 40,000 – 40,000

Interest paid (13,647) – – (13,647)    

Total changes from financing cash flows: (13,647) 36,549 – 22,902    

Exchange differences – (4,600) – (4,600)

Other changes:

Issue of promissory notes – – 13,769 13,769

Imputed interest on promissory notes – – 235 235

Interest expenses 13,214 – – 13,214    

Total other changes 13,214 – 14,004 27,218    

At 30 June 2019 – 158,090 14,004 172,094    
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50.	 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Interest

payable on

borrowings# Borrowings

Promissory

notes Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 1 July 2017 – 97,904 23,871 121,775

Changes from cash flows:

Proceeds from new bank loans – 165,315 – 165,315

Repayment of bank loans – (149,670) – (149,670)

Proceeds from other loans – 10,000 – 10,000

Redemption of promissory notes – – (23,000) (23,000)

Interest paid on promissory notes – – (2,728) (2,728)

Interest paid (8,006) – – (8,006)    

Total changes from financing cash flows: (8,006) 25,645 (25,728) (8,089)    

Exchange differences – 2,592 – 2,592    

Other changes:

Imputed interest on promissory notes – – 1,857 1,857

Interest expenses 8,439 – – 8,439    

Total other changes 8,439 – 1,857 10,296    

At 30 June 2018 433 126,141 – 126,574    

#	 Interest payable on borrowings is included in creditors, other advances and accrued charges as presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.
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Properties held for investment Type Lease term

Flat A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, J, K & L on each of 11th Floor and 15th Floor,

Ping On Court, Peace Plaza, Shangzhong Yuan Road, Changping Town,

Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC

Residential Medium

A factory complex erected on a parcel of land known as Lot No. 1924130100054

located at Songbaitang Village, Changping Town, Dongguan City,

Guangdong Province, the PRC

Industrial Medium

A factory complex erected on a parcel of land located at Qiaozi Village,

Changping Town, Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC

Industrial Medium

A factory complex erected on a parcel of land located at Butian, Tangjiao District,

Changping Town, Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC

Industrial Medium

Workshop 7 on 2nd Floor and Car Park No. L5

on 1st Floor Kingsford Industrial Centre, No. 13 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Industrial Medium

A factory complex erected on a parcel of land known as Lot No. Zhujiajiao Town 3-1 Qiu,

located at No. 6118 of Huqingping Highway, Zhujiajiao Town, Qingpu District, Shanghai,

the PRC

Industrial Medium
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RESULTS

The Group

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

30 June 2019 30 June 2018 30 June 2017 30 June 2016 30 June 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Turnover 317,134 395,380 442,522 740,979 782,197     

Loss before taxation (297,291) (80,307) (71,743) (272,020) (366,304)

Taxation (5,545) (5,368) (7,166) (4,981) (3,095)     

Loss for the year (302,836) (85,675) (78,909) (277,001) (369,399)     

Loss attributable to:

Owners of the Company (301,963) (85,639) (70,197) (274,945) (370,292)

Non-controlling interests (873) (36) (8,712) (2,056) 893     

(302,836) (85,675) (78,909) (277,001) (369,399)     

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

At At At At At

30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Total assets 1,401,161 1,654,087 1,728,442 1,788,873 1,771,053

Total liabilities (287,140) (254,059) (258,582) (365,883) (226,510)     

1,114,021 1,400,028 1,469,860 1,422,990 1,544,543     

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 1,122,244 1,408,706 1,478,244 1,414,044 1,532,849

Non-controlling interests (8,223) (8,678) (8,384) 8,946 11,694     

1,114,021 1,400,028 1,469,860 1,422,990 1,544,543     


